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          1  BOARD OF ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. I am Council Member Mary

          4  Pinkett, from Brooklyn, and Chairperson of the

          5  Committee on Governmental Operations. I would like

          6  to welcome you all to the Committee's Fiscal 2000

          7  Preliminary Budget Hearing.

          8                 Today we will be discussing the

          9  Fiscal Preliminary Budget as it relates to the

         10  Department of Citywide Administrative Services, the

         11  Department of Records and Information Services, the

         12  Law Department, the Campaign Finance Board, the

         13  Financial Information Services Agency and the

         14  Community Board.  Where, where, where, where? I

         15  don't see the Board of Elections.  Somebody goofed.

         16                 First and foremost, the Board of

         17  Elections. Please forgive us.

         18                 At the end of the agency's testimony,

         19  we will also be taking testimony from any interested

         20  members of the public.

         21                 I am joined today by my colleagues

         22  Council Member Harrison, Council Member Sabini,

         23  Council Member Eristoff, Council Member Miller and

         24  Council Member Perkins. And Council Member Watkins,

         25  I didn't see you, excuse me.
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          2                 We are also joined by the following

          3  staff of the Committee, Mark Young, Steve Fager,

          4  Paul Simone, Peter Bruno and Eileen McKenna of the

          5  Finance Division, Jay Damashek and Barbara Montefel

          6  of the Legal Division and Chuck Walker of the

          7  Communication Division.

          8                 I would like to call our first

          9  witness -- you see, we didn't make a mistake all the

         10  way along -- Daniel DeFrancesco, Executive Director

         11  of the Board of Elections.

         12                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Good morning, and

         13  thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay. Would you

         15  please identify yourself by name and title and the

         16  members of your Board who are seated with you.

         17                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I am Daniel

         18  DeFrancesco, from the New York City Board of

         19  Elections.

         20                 To my right is Margaret Ognibene, the

         21  Deputy Director of the New York City Board of

         22  Elections. To her right is John DelGiorno, the

         23  Administrative Manager of the New York City Board of

         24  Elections, and to my left, Joseph Gentile, my

         25  Finance Officer for the New York City Board of
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          2  Elections. In the audience we have Commissioner

          3  O'Connor, Commissioner Weiner, Commissioner Crystal

          4  Paris, Commissioner Strong. We have counsel, Steve

          5  Richmond, Naomi Bernstein, Public Relations, and I

          6  think I got you all. And if you are ready,

          7  Councilwoman, I am ready.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

          9                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Thank you for

         10  allowing me to appear before you today. I want to

         11  apologize for the fact that I missed your last

         12  scheduled appearance, but as you know I was in the

         13  hospital.

         14                 I want to thank Margaret Ognibene for

         15  testifying on my behalf, and I want to thank you for

         16  the courtesy you showed to her and my agency.

         17                 As you probably recall, the problem

         18  last year was that OMB wanted to eliminate the

         19  Board's voting machine technicians. VMTs are to the

         20  Board of Elections as infantry is to an army. They

         21  are our front-line troops responsible for preparing,

         22  certifying, maintaining the Board's machines and

         23  performing other clerical and data entry work in the

         24  Borough Offices.

         25                 The Council quite correctly
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          2  overturned OMB's decision and restored our VMT

          3  funding. So what has OMB done this year? They have

          4  refloated the same plan again. They have disregarded

          5  your actions of last year, and again are proposing

          6  to eliminate the VMTs.

          7                 I am asking you to reaffirm your

          8  decision last year. You were right to restore them

          9  last year, and you will be right again to restore

         10  them this year.

         11                 I wish to bring one other item to

         12  your attention. Our entire new needs package was

         13  denied by OMB. Due to allegations made by some

         14  segments of the political community, which were

         15  widely reported in the media, the Board wishes to

         16  set up an Electoral Integrity Unit, designed to

         17  ensure that only those individuals qualified to

         18  vote, i.e. U.S. citizens, who reside in New York

         19  City, are registered to vote.

         20                 We have submitted this proposal to

         21  OMB and your staff. It would require 12 new

         22  positions at a cost of $272,250. This seems to me to

         23  be a small price to pay to ensure our election

         24  results are 100 percent valid.

         25                 We also have requested a modest
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          2  amount of funding, 150,000, for ramping new poll

          3  sites to alleviate the necessity of voters traveling

          4  long distances and at voting at overcrowded

          5  locations, and another 140,000 to continue

          6  development of an automated paper ballot system.

          7                 OMB has decided not to fund these new

          8  needs, and I respectfully request that the Council

          9  might wish to appropriate these funds.

         10                 Again, I would like to thank you for

         11  allowing me to appear before you. My staff and I are

         12  available to answer any and all of your questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, thank you

         14  for your testimony, and I am sure that we all are

         15  very pleased and happy that you are out of the

         16  hospital, and we want you to use every means at your

         17  disposal to stay out of the hospital.

         18                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And I think the

         20  first statement I would like to make is that those

         21  of us who are in political life ought to stop using

         22  the Board of Election as a political football. On

         23  either side of the table, not one of us could be

         24  elected if there was not a Board of Election, and I

         25  think the service you provide is too valuable for us
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          2  to play one upsmanship (sic) or gameship with the

          3  Board of Election. You cannot be a Council Member

          4  nor a Mayor without a Board of Election.

          5                 And OMB, and the Council, OMB

          6  reflecting the Mayor's side and the Council, ought

          7  to recognize the fact, I believe, that what we need

          8  are more people voting, more people enabled to vote

          9  properly, a better informed voter and I think that

         10  the tour that we took at our last meeting was so

         11  informative and we were so impressed by what we saw,

         12  and I must say that the Commissioner who stood in

         13  for you did such an excellent job, I am willing to

         14  replace her husband with her any day of the week.

         15                 Because certainly the information

         16  that was given explained so much that we did not

         17  know and understand.

         18                 We had a view of the Board of

         19  Election that the rest of the City does not have.

         20  You presented yourself in a way that was scholarly

         21  and masterful, and we are certainly very much

         22  impressed by the information that was given.

         23                 And if I were -- I would say if I

         24  were your agent, I would take the show on the road,

         25  and say this is what you get for the piddling salary
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          2  you pay, citizens that are informed, citizens that

          3  are empowered, and here we are and this is what we

          4  do, and the people of the City and the people of

          5  this State, I think, who deal with boards similar to

          6  yours throughout the state, I don't know if they do,

          7  but should surely be impressed by the work you do.

          8                 So, again, I thank you.

          9                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I would like to

         10  thank you, Councilwoman, for your compliments. They

         11  were really very close to the heart and we might

         12  take up your suggestion of taking this show on the

         13  road.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: You should.

         15                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: We have done an

         16  awful lot in the last ten years, and we are very

         17  proud, and let me pay a compliment to the people at

         18  the Board of Elections while I have your ears. I

         19  think we have probably the greatest group of working

         20  people in any government agency in the country. For

         21  the simple reason we have people that will work 60

         22  and 70 hours, come in on a Sunday and a Saturday,

         23  and they might complain a little bit, but they will

         24  be there and they will perform, and they are really

         25  the heroes of the Board of Elections.
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          2                 Thank you, again.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I would like to

          4  suggest that maybe as Council Members we might want

          5  to ask you, for our various districts to come in and

          6  to let the people know what it is you do. Bring in a

          7  voting machine and let's hear from people and what

          8  their problems are, and you can explain to the

          9  public at large, just as you explained to us, what

         10  happens. And I think that would be a terrific boost

         11  for the board and for us, because people in our

         12  community see you the day they go to a machine and

         13  it doesn't work, and they call their local board and

         14  no one repairs instantaneously to protect that

         15  valued asset they have, which is their vote. And

         16  they are on their way to work, and they have got to

         17  get on a train that generally doesn't run on time.

         18  No matter what MTA says. And then they have got to

         19  stay there and work and come back again, and there

         20  are people who may not work as efficiently as we

         21  think or people understand that they are.

         22                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I think I can answer

         23  on behalf of my Board that your idea is terrific. I

         24  think we should do something like that, and using

         25  Council districts would be perfect.
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          2                 I definitely will run it by the full

          3  board tomorrow, as I think it is a terrific idea. I

          4  am a strong believer in education from the children

          5  to the seniors, and we should educate our voter

          6  because it is very, very important and we take it

          7  very, very serious.

          8                 Thank you, again.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And of course

         10  there is a School Board Election that is coming up.

         11                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes, there is.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And that would

         13  be helpful too, because a lot people do not

         14  participate or don't understand how that School

         15  Board Election and your role and what it means and

         16  how it translates, in terms of the political

         17  process.

         18                 MR. De FRANCESCO: While I have the

         19  Council ears again: it will be on a School Board

         20  Election, it will not be on a voting machine. It

         21  will be on paper, like the old way of proportional

         22  counting throughout the entire city.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: So, can you tell

         24  me, has there been any change in your conversation

         25  between the Board and OMB since the last time this
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          2  proposal was suggested?

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No. Last year we had

          4  a conversation with OMB on, I believe it was the

          5  elimination of 57 Voting Machine Technicians, the

          6  Council wisely restored those 57 positions. Nothing

          7  has happened since last year.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I am going to

          9  call on Council Member Sabini at this time, and then

         10  come back in a moment.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         12  Madame Chair.

         13                 Good morning, Commissioners, and

         14  Executive Director.

         15                 Let me preface my questions by

         16  saying, and the Executive Director knows this, that

         17  elections are like, the Board of Elections is sort

         18  of like referees or umpires at a sporting event, you

         19  don't notice them until things go awry, and that is

         20  unfortunate because when things don't go awry that

         21  means you are doing your job right, and sometimes

         22  when things go awry it is not your fault.

         23                 And at the organizational hearing of

         24  this Committee, I pointed out that in the last few

         25  years we have the Board of Elections, the State
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          2  Board of Elections, the Campaign Finance Board,

          3  DCAS' election project, the Voter Assistance

          4  Commissioner, the Justice Department, all sort of

          5  playing roles in our electoral process, and we spend

          6  lots and lots of money putting out a Voter Guide

          7  that is supposed to make things easier for the

          8  voters and I think it is a great idea, but

          9  participation continues to go down, no matter how

         10  many hands participate in the throttle of the

         11  election process. And I asked the Chair, and I am

         12  hoping we will have a hearing, where we get all the

         13  players in the same room to explain to us what it is

         14  that they are going to do. Because clearly we have

         15  had two elections in a row now where the results,

         16  again not your fault, this isn't blaming you, but

         17  the results were either called into question or

         18  delayed, and yet we spend all kinds of money

         19  bringing in extra people, government entities, not

         20  extra people to you, trying to make the system

         21  better and the system just seems to get worse. And I

         22  would like to come up with a way to make it better

         23  for everyone and I believe in some ways that means

         24  consolidating all of these entities maybe into your

         25  umbrella.
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          2                 So, I just want to say that at the

          3  outset before I ask a couple of questions.

          4                 In response to our questions at last

          5  year's hearing, you submitted to us a breakdown of

          6  costs relating to automation of paper ballot

          7  counting, I believe it was a million-two for Fiscal

          8  2000, anticipated in the cost of a registered voter

          9  mailing related to the automation project of paper

         10  ballot counting; do you recall that? That the

         11  mailing may be required by the Justice Department if

         12  you did automatic paper ballot counting?

         13                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I believe it was a

         14  little over a half a million dollars without the

         15  mailing.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. But you

         17  were concerned that the mailing would be required by

         18  the Justice Department, actually that the cost of

         19  the mailing would be more expensive than the actual

         20  program?

         21                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Are they going

         23  to make you do this mailing?

         24                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: As of now, no.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.
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          2                 At the end of last year's election we

          3  heard that charges of massive amounts of fraud in

          4  the case of the Attorney General's race, there was

          5  the humorous headlines, "aliens stole my election",

          6  that scores, hundreds, thousands, one member of the

          7  Council charged tens of thousands of illegal aliens

          8  voted in the last election, while as someone who

          9  represents aliens, legal or illegal, in the tens of

         10  thousands, I haven't noticed a big uptick and

         11  turnout in my area, and I am just wondering what the

         12  opinion of the Board of Elections is at this point?

         13                 Is there an assertion that there are

         14  fraudulent voters on your rolls, and if so, what are

         15  you doing about it?

         16                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No, there is not

         17  fraudulent people on the rolls. There were a number

         18  o agencies that looked into this, one was the Police

         19  Department, one was the Mayor's Office, the State

         20  Board of Elections, certainly the City Board of

         21  Elections, and the New York Times also did their own

         22  investigation and I believe the Post also did some

         23  sort of investigation.

         24                 To our knowledge, we didn't find

         25  anything fraudulent with any of the voting. I am not
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          2  saying it is not possible that it is not there and

          3  it is there, but it has never been proven. Like I

          4  said, the New York Times did a whole big thing on

          5  dead people, and found two people, one was a father

          6  and son who had the same name and the father passed

          7  on, and the son, out of frustration, just kept

          8  voting under the same buff card because he did

          9  inform the Board I think on three separate occasions

         10  that his father passed away.

         11                 We have since corrected that. And the

         12  other one was a woman that, not knowing what she

         13  did, she moved from Manhattan to the Bronx and then

         14  back to Manhattan, and in the time she moved she

         15  always kept the same address, and that was more of a

         16  mistake than really something that was criminal.

         17                 I know in my own office we had an

         18  employee whose name was Joseph Larocca, who has a

         19  brother Anthony Larocca whose father passed away,

         20  was Anthony Larocca, and they cancelled the brother

         21  and not the father. It does happen when you have a

         22  same name in a family. My own son is named after me,

         23  so I am quite sure eventually it is going to happen

         24  to me and when I die they will cancel him instead of

         25  me and I will go on.
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          2                 But to my knowledge, in all of the

          3  investigations that went on, nothing was proven

          4  against the Board of Elections, the Board has

          5  certainly tried to clean up anything they can with

          6  their files. We are now currently looking at

          7  legislation to increase the death notice that we got

          8  out of Albany. We had that law changed a couple of

          9  years ago, instead of getting it from the City Board

         10  of Health, we now get it from the State Board of

         11  Health which corrects a fault that not many people

         12  realize was happening. People who would have died

         13  outside of New York City, the State would have been

         14  notified and the City would have never been

         15  notified.

         16                 So, that has been done as a twice a

         17  year list. I have already spoken and the

         18  Commissioners have drafted another legislative

         19  packet that was presented to Albany and we would

         20  like to change that to once a month, I think we

         21  would like to change the felony laws to once a

         22  month, so the Board is always constantly moving to

         23  clean their files. And I think it was one of the

         24  candidates who gave a quote saying, we are worried

         25  about getting live people to vote, not dead people.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: You know, which

          4  makes sense.

          5                 But we are constantly cleaning our

          6  file. I think our file has gotten considerably clean

          7  over the last two or three years, and has definitely

          8  gotten better over the last five years.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The Board of

         10  Elections is the only City agency that is by law

         11  bipartisan in both staff and in its make-up of its

         12  commissioners. Is there a minority view on this, or

         13  are we all talking of the same voice that indeed

         14  there is limited controlled amounts of mistakes and

         15  not massive fraud, is that --

         16                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I agree.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Are there any

         18  of your Commissioners that want to dispute that? Or

         19  staff?

         20                 Identify yourself, please, for the

         21  record.

         22                 MR. WEINER: Steve Weiner, I am a

         23  Commissioner from Queens County, Republican, and

         24  president of the Board.

         25                 No, I don't dispute it at all. I
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          2  agree with Danny that the rolls are being cleaned.

          3  But we have imposed this electoral integrity unit to

          4  avoid even the concern among the public and to

          5  possibly uncover areas that people haven't thought

          6  about, and that is a new needs request that we think

          7  would be very helpful in continuing to ensure that

          8  the rolls are clean and to improve any remaining

          9  doubts in the public that might have been caused by

         10  those charges, but that was rejected.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I think you

         12  have touched on something important and it is

         13  important that the public continue to view the

         14  results and the conduct of our elections with

         15  integrity. I am just wondering that, since you feel

         16  that way and you are a Republican member from

         17  Queens, did you express that at the time of all of

         18  these challenges, when I believe even the Executive

         19  Directors mail-in ballot was challenged, was it not?

         20  Danny, your vote was challenged?

         21                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: That was true. Very

         22  true.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Did you

         24  express this confidence in the system at the time?

         25                 MR. WEINER: I guess at the time we
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          2  were looking for evidence from the campaign. I mean

          3  I think at that time there were charges being made,

          4  we were told there was going to be a hearing up in

          5  Albany which was never conducted with us in the

          6  Board. We did invite the campaigns to provide us

          7  with the evidence, and that was what we did.

          8                 We are always willing to listen and

          9  if there is something, get to the bottom of it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The Mayor in

         11  his State of the City Address called for the

         12  elimination of two boards, the Board of Education

         13  and the Board of Elections, I am wondering what the

         14  reaction is of the staff and members of the Board of

         15  Elections to the Mayor saying it should be

         16  eliminated, and who would replace you?

         17                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I would say the

         18  secret police.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Officer Barell

         20  has some papers for you to sign.

         21                 MR. WEINER: From my perspective, I

         22  think it's a bad idea, and I don't know what the

         23  replacement is. But obviously we are set up in the

         24  constitution as a bipartisan agency for a reason,

         25  and that is to provide a check and balance to
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          2  increase public confidence, and that is what we

          3  need.

          4                 It is sort of like Winston Churchill

          5  said, democracy is the worst form of government,

          6  except for the alternatives.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

          8                 MR. WEINER: I think we can say the

          9  Board of Elections is probably the worst electoral

         10  agency there is, except for the alternatives. When

         11  we are presented with a persuasive improvement, I

         12  would look at it.

         13                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I will disagree with

         14  my commissioner. I don't think we are the worst

         15  agency in voting or in that field.

         16                 MR. WEINER: I mean in the

         17  Churchillian (sic) sense, not in --

         18                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No.

         19                 MR. WEINER: The people do a great

         20  job.

         21                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: You know, I don't

         22  know what replaces the Board of Election. I think we

         23  have a system that is almost 100 years old between

         24  Republicans and Democrats as a checkmate system. I

         25  honestly think it works very, very well, where one
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          2  party watches the other party. We saw it happen in

          3  the last Spitzer/Vacco recount, on a statewide

          4  level, where Boards of Elections stood up there and

          5  did their job and counted and counted to make sure

          6  every ballot should be counted and was counted.

          7                 I mean, I could tell you stories of

          8  commissioners that argued over a mustard stain for

          9  three hours, and I look at that and some people

         10  might say, well, that's very funny, but I think you

         11  have to look at the intent for a Commissioner of

         12  Elections, no matter what jurisdiction they are

         13  governing, to sit and argue for three hours over a

         14  mustard stain, how important is that ballot? That

         15  ballot is damn important, but a commissioner waits

         16  three hours to say this mustard stain doesn't

         17  interfere with the vote. And I think that is

         18  terrific, I really do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: As someone

         20  allergic to mustard, I would --

         21                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Any minority

         23  view on that, about eliminating the Board of

         24  Elections, from any of the commissioners or staff?

         25                 We dropped one statewide party in the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            23

          1  BOARD OF ELECTIONS

          2  last election, I believe the Freedom Party, but we

          3  gained two, I believe, or three.

          4                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No, you gained Green

          5  and Working Families.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Green and

          7  Working Families, okay.

          8                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: And you lost

          9  Freedom.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Freedom.

         11                 So now we have an extra permanent

         12  line on the ballot --

         13                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No. No.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Why not?

         15                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: You have eight

         16  permanent lines now.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. I am

         18  saying so we now have an additional one.

         19                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Oh, I am sorry. I

         20  misunderstood.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: How are the

         22  machines going to handle that?

         23                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: That's a big

         24  problem. I have already had a few conversations with

         25  commissioners from Upstate, and I have discussed it
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          2  with Tom Wilky, the Executive Director of the State

          3  Board. The problem really affects I believe the

          4  whole 62 counties in the State because we now have

          5  eight column machines and we only have eight

          6  columns.

          7                 Some of the machines from upstate now

          8  and Long Island do have a ninth column, but as you

          9  know, they vote across for all their elections and

         10  we vote up and down for the primary and across for a

         11  general.

         12                 It is a big concern. Like I said, I

         13  have already started conversations on this. I am

         14  hopeful, plan to go to another commissioner meeting

         15  some time in May, depending on the school board

         16  election.

         17                 Right now it won't effect any of the

         18  62 counties in the state, we are all going to get

         19  away with it for this year, but I should know next

         20  year, you are going to start off with a presidential

         21  primary going into a primary into a presidential

         22  election and we all know from past history that you

         23  do get an awful lot of independent candidates. So we

         24  also have our mechanics looking at the current

         25  voting machine to see if we could split the machine.
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          2                 But it is a big concern and it is not

          3  going to go away this year definitely. We are

          4  working on it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, that

          6  leads me to the next question which is that DCAS is

          7  waiting outside to testify and they have eliminated

          8  from the budget the famed elections project.

          9                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And I am

         11  wondering, where does that leave us with our

         12  machines?

         13                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, the current

         14  electronic machine we are discussing now is in

         15  litigation in State Court.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That is Sequoa

         17  (phonetic) --

         18                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, it is Sequoa

         19  Pacific, aligned with the Loint and Touche

         20  (phonetic) was the company that was brought in to be

         21  the integrator and is a subcontractor to Sequoa

         22  Pacific.  That is still being litigated and there is

         23  really not much -- I think Commissioner Weiner has

         24  already discussed it a little bit with one of the

         25  attorneys of the Corporation Counsel.
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          2                 MR. WEINER: It is in discovery.  My

          3  understanding is they are in discovery, there is no

          4  trial date set, that there really isn't -- you know,

          5  at this point there are experts being retained and

          6  the issue concerns deficiencies in the software that

          7  the consultant was producing from those machines.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

          9                 But my question goes toward, with

         10  that in litigation, with the elections project being

         11  defunded and with the machines not getting any

         12  younger and the parts not being manufactured, how

         13  are we going to conduct elections with the hardware

         14  you have?

         15                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, let's step

         16  back to answer that.

         17                 You probably need more technicians

         18  for the current voting machines than you have ever

         19  needed before because of the age of the machine.

         20                 We are constantly looking for parts,

         21  we found a company out in New Jersey, IES, who has

         22  been pretty good in fulfilling most of our orders.

         23  We have bought some more voting machines from the

         24  State of Maine and from I believe the State of

         25  Tennessee, where we stripped them down for parts.
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          2  That seems to be keeping our head above water. We

          3  will need more technicians to keep these machines

          4  going, there is no question about that.

          5                 The defunding of the Elections

          6  Project, I think it was a little over a million

          7  dollars, and there is really not a big significance.

          8  I think we have done most of what we could do on the

          9  voting machine, and if Commissioner Diamond decides

         10  to refund it, it is one thing, but right now I think

         11  his call is correct not to fund it for the simple

         12  reason that nothing is happening with it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I don't

         14  disagree, but where are we? At some point the system

         15  is going to break down and you won't be able to

         16  deliver a machine to every ED.

         17                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, if we lost the

         18  52 VMTs, definitely you are going to get the wish

         19  that the system will break down. I am hoping that

         20  the Council would restore the 52. And there is a

         21  strong possibility we should get more technicians

         22  in.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: What I am

         24  saying is, no matter how many technicians you have,

         25  if you don't have the hardware and you don't have
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          2  the parts, at some point doesn't the system break

          3  down?

          4                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: At what point

          6  is that?

          7                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, I think right

          8  now the Board of Elections is in pretty good shape

          9  as far as parts and maintaining what we currently

         10  have. I don't see a problem immediately.

         11                 I think the problem is going to exist

         12  when you come up with a, we have an eight column

         13  voting machine and we are going to wind up with

         14  maybe 22 candidates, which is very possible in the

         15  presidential.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, we have

         17  been around a long time and I remember hearing the

         18  system would, the machines would be in effect

         19  obsolete in 1990, 1996, 1998, and they are still

         20  working.

         21                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Councilman, you are

         22  100 percent correct, and I want to tell you, it

         23  started out that in '88 for the presidential we were

         24  supposed to have some sort of electronic voting

         25  machine. We didn't get that. Then it was into 1990
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          2  and then it went to '92, and it was what we took,

          3  the electronic voting machine at the time, and

          4  created enhancements to it, something like 25

          5  enhancements, including a better printer, dot screws

          6  where you can't just screw it, it has got like three

          7  dots, it is a special tool you need, a new frame,

          8  new celluloid, it came to I think 25 enhancements to

          9  the electronic voting machine.

         10                 The problem then existed in, the

         11  Loint and Touche who created a system to make these

         12  7,000 voting machines work, that is where we are

         13  now. We are currently fighting with the Loint and

         14  Touche. We say your project plan is no good and you

         15  say it is good, and this went back and forth twice.

         16  After we submitted documentation of over 200 pages,

         17  I mean it wasn't just a three-line item, and we said

         18  your system is no good. We did over 200 pages twice

         19  to say this is no good.

         20                 So, there are problems there. When

         21  does the system break down? I don't know when the

         22  system breaks down.

         23                 MR. WEINER: Can I give you a minority

         24  view, Councilman?

         25                 I think in one respect, you know, the
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          2  machines are working, we are carrying them along,

          3  but there is a breakdown in the sense that we are

          4  running into the situation with the multi lines on

          5  the ballot, and I know the people are unhappy. We

          6  have reached the limit of the capacity of the

          7  machine to fit parties in their own vertical

          8  columns, and that is a limitation that is inherent

          9  in this generation of machine.

         10                 So, in that respect, to the extent

         11  people are unhappy with the length of the ballot

         12  being, you know, far down at the bottom in some

         13  cases, were having parties set up in a confusing

         14  way. We have reached a practical limit, but there is

         15  one other area I wanted to mention to you that you

         16  should be aware of, it is in our new needs package,

         17  is the electronic scanners.

         18                 With respect to the paper ballots,

         19  one of the big delays was the hand count on the

         20  ballot, and with scanners, and we are talking about

         21  literally taking pages where the voter would mark

         22  and fill in a bubble, like people do on lottery

         23  tickets or some of these tests in school, this would

         24  cover the affidavit ballots and absentee and

         25  emergency ballots. We are moving ahead on this soon
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          2  and that would take care of one of the areas that

          3  has been a source of delay and public concern.

          4                 You know, obviously there is a bigger

          5  picture, would we like to have the next generation

          6  of machines? Yes. You know, so I guess my minority

          7  view is we are really running out of the life and we

          8  are reaching real practical problems.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: May I break in

         10  on this futuristic seminar and suggest that in the

         11  Year 2000, is there an election?

         12                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Oh, I think so.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Who is running

         14  for office?

         15                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I think you have the

         16  President of the United States.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay. I am just

         18  going to be pragmatic about this. This is a year

         19  that the Republicans say we can take that office,

         20  right? The oval office is mine. The Democrats say we

         21  are going to hold onto it. Now, who do you think is

         22  going to sit here and allow the City of New York not

         23  to be able to deliver a vote? Will the Republicans

         24  be guilty of that?

         25                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No.
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          2                 MR. WEINER: I certainly hope not.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Do you think the

          4  Democrats will be that stupid?

          5                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

          7                 I predict, I have looked into my

          8  crystal ball, there will be equipment that will be

          9  able to register voters and a vote. Will it be the

         10  electronic machine that we have been trying to

         11  achieve that we saw in that demonstration? It should

         12  be. Will it have all of the updated equipment that

         13  you are talking about? It ought to be. Will you

         14  continue to work towards that between now and then?

         15                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes. Definitely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: So, if we move

         17  forward, we would say simply as of this moment

         18  pragmatically there is no way that you can sign

         19  anything that will say to us that by the Year 2000

         20  this will be in place. But what we can do is

         21  increase the pressure on OMB, and on the Mayor, and

         22  the City Council, to put in place the dollars that

         23  will make this happen; does that make sense to any

         24  of you?

         25                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Sure.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  BOARD OF ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

          3                 Council Member Perkins.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

          5  Madame Chair, and thank you also, from the Board of

          6  Elections, for your testimony.

          7                 I want to go back to the concerns

          8  raised by my colleague about the election integrity

          9  unit.

         10                 For those of us that, like Councilman

         11  Sabini, that represent so-called minority

         12  communities, black communities, communities of

         13  color, communities with immigrants, the allegations

         14  that were made were quite offensive and in fact

         15  folks felt they were racist. And it is a great

         16  concern of ours that in response to those

         17  allegations there is a unit being set up that might

         18  suggest that there was some foundation for those

         19  allegations and that, therefore, there is a unit

         20  that is going to be set up to go into those

         21  particular communities and arrest people or somehow

         22  or other deny them of their voting rights.

         23                 So, I want to just have you reiterate

         24  the fact that in fact there was no proof of any

         25  wrongdoing as alleged by the Republican Party in the
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          2  Vacco Campaign.

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, to my

          4  knowledge, Councilman, there was no proof that

          5  anything was fraudulent or taken out of context that

          6  it was crooked or --

          7                 Now, we have had the Mayor get

          8  involved where he was willing to do, I believe, a

          9  300 ED test, and then the Police Commissioner got

         10  involved and said no, we are not going to send

         11  police and knock on people's doors and ask, are you

         12  William Perkins? And your answer would be yes. And

         13  are you a voter? And your answer could be, well, you

         14  can drop dead now -- because there is no authority

         15  for you to answer any question. So, the Police

         16  Commissioner did pull away from that thought, and I

         17  believe the Mayor, right after that withdrew his 300

         18  ED test of -- Immigration Department, we sent a

         19  letter out, the Board has sent a letter saying

         20  either let us use your tapes or use our tapes and do

         21  a match, we have tried to catch the illegal aliens

         22  who supposedly are registered to vote. They have

         23  turned us down.

         24                 So, I think if the Board of Elections

         25  doesn't do it, who is going to do it. Unless the
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          2  Attorney General is going to create what Louie

          3  Lefkowitz had, an elections fraud bureau, and I have

          4  discussed that with the new Attorney General also,

          5  but that remains to be seen.

          6                 But right now, if you are looking at

          7  the process that for us to investigate to make sure

          8  that American citizens are voting and they are the

          9  only ones voting and we want that to continue to

         10  happen, we don't want to deprive anyone of voting,

         11  we go out of our way to make sure people are voting;

         12  what other agency, in my knowledge, would be best

         13  fit to do that? I think the Board of Elections would

         14  be best fit to come up with this unit, to do our own

         15  investigation.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

         17  to appreciate that. But I just want to again raise

         18  the concern that during that campaign these

         19  allegations were made about communities of color,

         20  and they were made loud and they were made

         21  constantly throughout that campaign, when the vote

         22  was taking place, and so I just want to be clear

         23  that we don't want to support a unit that in any way

         24  represents that that allegation was true, that those

         25  communities that were targeted by the Vacco Campaign
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          2  and the Republican party are not the communities

          3  that are going to be targeted by this particular

          4  election investigation unit.

          5                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, and this is

          6  only my vision of it, it would have to be discussed

          7  with the commissioners at length of what would come

          8  out of this unit, but my vision of this unit would

          9  not be to target at anybody, but to target anything

         10  that is fraudulent, no matter what color, what

         11  ethnic, what religious belief you are --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: There are

         13  non-immigrants that commit fraud?

         14                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I would say so,

         15  there are non-immigrants that commit fraud, and

         16  there are immigrants that do commit fraud. I am not

         17  saying that they are all fraudulent, but you are

         18  dealing, you know, I think we have to come into the

         19  real world and you are dealing in a City that is

         20  very complex and there are people who are going to

         21  do things wrong today, tomorrow and in eternity and

         22  there are people who are not going to do things

         23  wrong. And I think to answer your question, I don't

         24  think any group, any community, should be targeted

         25  to anything, other than to verify that they are
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          2  voting and they should be voting or they shouldn't

          3  be voting.

          4                 There are honest mistakes, too,

          5  Councilman, that happen. For instance, in '94 when

          6  we were doing the Governor's race, you had a

          7  minister up in Harlem who, to help out his

          8  parishioners let him use his church address because

          9  all the mailboxes were ripped out of the apartment

         10  buildings; is it wrong? Well, yes, it is wrong

         11  because the law says you are supposed to use the

         12  home address, but the minister, in all honesty,

         13  wasn't doing anything wrong, he was making an

         14  accommodation for voters to get their mail. And what

         15  had happened, we sent two people up, a democrat and

         16  republican, they checked out the minister's story,

         17  we changed everybody, put them back on the

         18  registration rolls as from the addresses they were

         19  voting, but we allowed them to use the church as a

         20  mailing address. That happened in Harlem and in '94

         21  it happened in a drug rehab center, where part of

         22  the drug rehabilitation was to bring these people

         23  back to a normal life and let them register and

         24  vote. Unfortunately it was another mistake where

         25  they used the Center's address, instead of the
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          2  address of the person that was in the rehab program,

          3  and as you know that is all confidential so there is

          4  no names, but eventually we corrected it, moving the

          5  registration away from the rehab center but to the

          6  voter and the mailbox went to the rehabilitation

          7  center.

          8                 Is it perfect? No. But I think we are

          9  moving in a direction to straighten it out and we

         10  don't want to disenfranchise anyone. And especially

         11  in any community.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It seems to

         13  me from what you are saying is that the Board of

         14  Elections needs really funding for a clean-up

         15  operation, in which you can have staff that is able

         16  to review files and not so much detect fraud but

         17  detect mistakes, detect records that may not be

         18  accurate or may not be appropriate for a particular

         19  election or whatever the case may be, but it sounds

         20  to me that the Board needs an operation that is

         21  specifically targeted around cleaning up the files

         22  of the various records that you might have.

         23                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: What I want to do,

         24  Councilman, I want to give this question to Mr.

         25  Gentile, who is in expert in cleaning up our
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          2  financial files.

          3                 MR. GENTILE: If you will look at the

          4  proposal, you will see that it is for two

          5  investigators and ten clerks. If this plan had been

          6  proposed as an anti-fraud unit, it would have been

          7  for ten investigators and two clerks, this proposal

          8  is along the lines of what you are talking about.

          9                 If somebody suspected massive fraud,

         10  you would want a staff of investigators backed up

         11  with minimal clerical personnel. It is not because

         12  we expect fraud, it is because no other governmental

         13  entity has indicated a willingness to address this

         14  problem, that we have a proposal for ten clerical

         15  personnel and only two investigators. We don't

         16  expect to find fraud, we expect to find a clerical

         17  problem.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Just so I am

         19  clear, so we are really talking about sort of a

         20  clean-up operation --

         21                 MR. GENTILE: Exactly right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That would

         23  prevent people from thinking or assuming that there

         24  is fraud when in fact there is a clerical problem.

         25                 MR. GENTILE: Exactly right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And this is

          3  not going to be targeted to the minority communities

          4  per se, as the republicans alleged, in the Vacco

          5  Campaign alleged, but actually is an operation that

          6  will go throughout the City?

          7                 MR. GENTILE: Again, Mr. Perkins, it

          8  is not going to be targeted anywhere. If you were

          9  looking for fraud, you would hire ten investigators,

         10  two for each borough and maybe two typers.

         11                 When you have ten clerks and two

         12  investigators you are not having a unit that is

         13  going anywhere to do anything. You are having a unit

         14  that is a staff unit attached to the general office

         15  to clean up files with the investigators as last

         16  resort in case there is a problem because the

         17  police, the Mayor, Immigration won't do it, and the

         18  New York Times is not a governmental agency. These

         19  two investigators, two, for all the voters in New

         20  York City, are the last resort in case there might

         21  be some sort of fraud, the other ten are for

         22  clerical errors.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is the Police

         24  Department going to be knocking on doors of houses.

         25                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Absolutely not.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, the idea

          3  of a police state is not a part of this discussion?

          4                 MR. GENTILE: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, that is

          6  very important. Because you know the threat by the

          7  Mayor that the police will be knocking on doors was

          8  a very frightening proposal when it got into the

          9  press and got into the community, and I think it is

         10  very important that you address that, that is why I

         11  am raising it.

         12                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Believe me, it's a

         13  dead issue.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         15  Thank you very much.

         16                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I think what we

         18  have spent a lot of time discussing is how liable

         19  should candidates be for the misinformation that

         20  they give. In this particular instance what we have

         21  spent a lot of time talking about is a candidate's

         22  information, which was basically misinformation that

         23  was purposeful, and it did imply a liabilist (sic)

         24  connotation to certain segments of the population,

         25  and it was carried as such by the media.
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          2                 I am not going to say that the Board

          3  of Elections was involved in that, but it just seems

          4  to me that what the Council ought to be doing is

          5  looking at ways when this comes forward, not in

          6  adding 12 more people, I understand why the Board of

          7  Elections must do this, because they must protect

          8  their reputation, and make sure that the public is

          9  aware of the fact and the funding sources, that they

         10  are not assisting in perpetrating a fraud, but also

         11  it is necessary I think to do this because those who

         12  create this kind of dilemma must also be responsible

         13  for the actions that they create.

         14                 And it seems to me that the Campaign

         15  Finance Board, all of the agencies that are affected

         16  by the action of their candidates, ought to be

         17  notified and there should be some penalties.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I know, for

         19  instance, the Executive Director was personally

         20  attacked as participating in that conspiracy, and I

         21  recall in one TV show where that was raised by one

         22  of the accusers; did you get an apology? Or first of

         23  all, did you participate in any fraudulent behavior

         24  during that election?

         25                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: For the

          3  record. All right, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, Council

          5  Member Eristoff.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Thank you.

          7                 I have a series of relatively boring

          8  questions to ask, but I just wanted to clarify one

          9  small point, just for the record.

         10                 It is my understanding, isn't it

         11  correct, Mr. Executive Director, that the Mayor

         12  refused to have the police participate in any

         13  election fraud investigation absent the issuance of

         14  a court order, much to the annoyance of the Vacco

         15  Campaign, and that court order was not issued,

         16  therefore the Police Department never did take an

         17  affirmative role going out and checking individual

         18  voters; isn't that in fact what happened?

         19                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: That is 100 percent

         20  correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay.

         22                 The Mayor, lest we forget, the Mayor

         23  wound up in fact on the other side of the issue from

         24  the eventual loser of that particular election.

         25                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay. All

          3  right.

          4                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: The only thing that

          5  came out in the other testimony was that at first

          6  there was a proposal to do 300 EDs as a test. The

          7  Mayor did, and you are 100 percent correct, with the

          8  Police Commissioner, back away from that completely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Right. He

         10  said give me a court order and I will do it, if I

         11  have to.

         12                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: And I believe the

         13  Police Commissioner said the same thing, I will do

         14  nothing without a court order and there was never a

         15  court order.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Right.

         17                 Okay, moving on to my favorite topic

         18  of technology initiatives, just three questions:

         19                 It is my understanding that -- well,

         20  you had a contract for $570,000 through the Mayor's

         21  Office of Contracts back in December for paper

         22  ballot scanning in the tally system.

         23                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay. When

         25  do you expect to spend that money, and what is the
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          2  expense versus capital allegation?

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I am going to switch

          4  that over to Mr. DelGiorno.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Thank you.

          6                 MR. DELGIORNO: Councilman, we are

          7  currently in negotiations with the vendor for the

          8  contract. We are planned for a partial

          9  implementation for September of 1999, and then see

         10  how those results go. We would do one borough that

         11  is under the Department of Justice so that it would

         12  help with the preclearance of the system.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay. So, in

         14  other words, in terms of money, how much do you plan

         15  on spending in Fiscal 2000, and how much on Fiscal

         16  2001?

         17                 MR. DELGIORNO: $570,000 in Fiscal

         18  2000. We need about another $140,000 for Fiscal

         19  2001. And that was part of our new needs package.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay, and

         21  that is in new needs.

         22                 And is it in the budget, the

         23  additional 100?

         24                 MR. DELGIORNO: $570,000 has been

         25  already allocated, 140 has at this point been denied
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          2  as part of the new needs package.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay.

          4                 And the 570, was that in the 2000

          5  budget or 1999? It is in your current budget?

          6                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: It is in our current

          7  budget.

          8                 MR. DELGIORNO: It is in our current

          9  budget.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: So it is a

         11  '99 item that you are going to roll over.

         12                 MR. DELGIORNO: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: All right.

         14                 Moving on to the Year 2000 work for

         15  the EZ Text Database System, my understanding was

         16  that you were requesting a couple of million dollars

         17  to make some changes in light of the Year 2000 bug;

         18  what happened with that?

         19                 MR. DELGIORNO: Well the EZ system, we

         20  needed approximately, about two and a half million

         21  dollars, OMB has funded our Y 2000 request for the

         22  EZ remediation. We currently have two contractors

         23  already working at the Board, hosted at the Board,

         24  Data Industries and Software AG, and they are

         25  responsible to do baseline testing, and the
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          2  remediation of the EZ software.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay. But in

          4  other words, 2.5 million and that is in the '99 or

          5  in the current budget?

          6                 MR. DELGIORNO: It is in our current

          7  budget and OMB will allow us to roll over into

          8  Fiscal Year 2000 in order to -- that is actually

          9  when we are going to be doing the -- putting the

         10  system back in.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: By the way,

         12  we are all talking about capital money.

         13                 MR. DELGIORNO: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: In this and

         15  the previous instance, that was all capital money,

         16  right?

         17                 MR. DELGIORNO: No, actually it is

         18  expense money.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Oh, this is

         20  all expense.

         21                 MR. DELGIORNO: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: And the same

         23  thing for the paper ballot scanning system?

         24                 MR. DELGIORNO: That is also expense.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay.
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          2                 Finally, the Scribe system work, my

          3  understanding is that you were requesting between 8

          4  and 13 million last year for upgrading this

          5  hardware?

          6                 MR. DELGIORNO: Right, and OMB has

          7  currently put aside approximately $3.5 million on

          8  the Expense side and approximately $4 million on the

          9  capital side for expected equipment costs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay, and

         11  when is that going to be on line, for 2000 or '99?

         12                 MR. DELGIORNO: Fiscal Year 2000.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: So, you

         14  consider that responsive to your needs in that area?

         15                 MR. DELGIORNO: We are currently

         16  working with OMB and the Department of Information

         17  and Technologies to revise those dollars based on

         18  the information we are receiving on the Scribe

         19  System, but I believe that our requests will be, if

         20  there are any changes in the dollars they will be

         21  taken care of under the Y2K.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: So, in other

         23  words, OMB has committed to helping you solve this

         24  problem?

         25                 MR. DELGIORNO: Absolutely.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay, just

          3  to recap, the paper ballot scanning system was all

          4  capital money, and the EZ Text Database System work

          5  is all Expense?

          6                 MR. DELGIORNO: No. The paper ballot

          7  scanning system was Expense, the EZ remediation is

          8  Expense, the Scribe system is a combination of

          9  Expense and Capital.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 MR. DELGIORNO: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

         14  Rivera.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you,

         16  Madame Chair.

         17                 Good afternoon, Danny.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Excuse me,

         19  Council Member Rivera, for one moment. I would like

         20  to acknowledge the presence of Council Member

         21  Carrion from the Bronx.

         22                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: And may I also make

         23  an announcement that Commissioner Keller now has

         24  joined us.

         25                 Thank you. I am sorry.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: It is always

          3  good to see you and all of the members of your staff

          4  and the Commissioners, for me, also, especially

          5  Commissioner Crystal Parish.

          6                 Not because of term limits, not

          7  because some of us might be described as being lame

          8  ducks, I think that way before term limits I will

          9  ask we try to fill in some gaps so that we can set

         10  the record straight. And even though my colleagues,

         11  both Sabini and Perkins, touched on it, and you

         12  answered some of their questions, I still have a

         13  concern and I would like to fill in one of the gaps.

         14                 This is not an anti-Rudy position,

         15  and I believe that when Attorney General Vacco made

         16  some comments, it was directly made to the Latino

         17  community in this City. He said something like he

         18  won't send anyone to a bodega because supposedly

         19  that is where bandidos hang out, something like

         20  that, and I believe it was those comments that began

         21  his downfall.

         22                 I believe, you can answer this one, I

         23  believe that prior to anyone in any administration,

         24  whether in the City or in the state, made any

         25  comments, which took maybe about two weeks to three
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          2  weeks to make to deal with this issue, that the

          3  Latino community, especially the Latino elected

          4  officials, immediately felt there was a need to

          5  respond to this, what we can describe as racist

          6  comments from one of the state's highest elected

          7  officials.

          8                 I believe we were there in front of a

          9  bodega, almost all the Latino elected officials, and

         10  we made our feelings known. That was very early on,

         11  it took place maybe more than one time, if I recall,

         12  and maybe after two weeks it was before it was clear

         13  why any administration, whether the state or the

         14  city feeling on that issue were.

         15                 The other thing is, the former

         16  Attorney General did everything to hold onto his

         17  job, I just couldn't believe when I read in the

         18  media that he sort of tried to identify 103,000

         19  voters as having been taking part of some kind of

         20  left wing conspiracy to get rid of right wing from

         21  state government, I just could not believe that.

         22                 The other thing is that, having not

         23  been able to hold on to his job, former Attorney

         24  General Vacco is doing very well, and we wish him

         25  well. It seems like some of the things that have
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          2  taken place, I don't think any one of us would be

          3  allowed to do, like secure ourselves of a

          4  good-paying job after we leave government, I don't

          5  think we are going to be allowed to do that, so

          6  Vacco is doing very well. He is doing much better

          7  now than he ever did before. And no one is raising a

          8  stink, no one is calling for an investigation as to

          9  if there is anything illegal having taken place. I

         10  don't think he is, or anything illegal has taken

         11  place, but the mere fact is it leaves a bad taste

         12  and we all know that. So, he is going to be doing

         13  very well.

         14                 But because of his comments and

         15  because of the accusation, on page number two of

         16  your statement, I believe it is your statement, you

         17  are forced to create an electoral integrity unit,

         18  and it seems here, unless this question was asked,

         19  the targeted will be those who might not be US

         20  citizens, or how are we going to exactly determine

         21  who is the US citizen where today you can register

         22  -- you know, I believe, you can correct me, I don't

         23  think you have to do what you used to do in my days,

         24  that you will have to put down, I was born in Puerto

         25  Rico, but you guys know that in 1898 Puerto Rico was
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          2  invaded, in 1917, on March of 1917 we were made

          3  American citizens, so we are allowed to register to

          4  vote.

          5                 But how do you propose to do this?

          6  Because we don't have to write in where were we

          7  born, and whether we are American citizens or not.

          8  How are you going to target, there is five boroughs?

          9                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: To answer you,

         10  Councilman --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: This is not to

         12  say that we are not all concerned about anything

         13  illegal taking place, I mean if you feel you need

         14  more than two investigators, then so be it, let the

         15  other side put the money so you can hire more

         16  investigators, I don't think we would be objecting

         17  to it. We just want to be fair about what we do.

         18                 Because, Danny, as you answer this

         19  question, also answer my next question.  I believe

         20  that some damage control needs to take place because

         21  it has not been easy to register in our City

         22  African-American or Latino, especially Latino, and

         23  as a result of this campaign, you know, that was

         24  geared against Latinos, I think your job is not an

         25  easy one, so I will continue to follow with a
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          2  question:

          3                 What is it you are doing to do some

          4  damage control, you know, in the Latino community,

          5  in terms of maybe advertising?

          6                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I want to get away

          7  from a word that I don't particularly like, this

          8  targeted area. I don't particularly like the target

          9  area. I think what we are looking to do is go

         10  through the entire City of New York with two

         11  investigators and probably ten clerks who can clean

         12  up a lot of mistakes that happened. And we know it

         13  happened.

         14                 Especially in the community, like in

         15  the Puerto Rican community where they use a lot of

         16  their mother's surnames, so you will have Jose

         17  Rodriguez Serrano, you know, it happens.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: But, Danny,

         19  when my mother, a single mother, brought me into

         20  this country, I got to do this to you --

         21                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: All right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: When I was

         23  brought into this country in 1947 by a single

         24  parent, my name was, you are right, my name was Jose

         25  Ahil Rivera Perega Cruz (phonetic). The teacher

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            55

          1  BOARD OF ELECTIONS

          2  couldn't deal with that, and she tried to rename me

          3  Joseph Rivera, so we compromised, my name is Jose

          4  Rivera. So, I don't want--

          5                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I don't want to get

          6  on the wrong side with you, what I am trying to say

          7  is that those are not mistakes, they are something

          8  that can be cleaned up because of a surname. You

          9  have that in the Irish community where a lot of

         10  years ago the Irish immigrants named their children

         11  after their wive's maiden name. It was a common

         12  practice. What I am trying to say is that because

         13  your name is Jose Rivera, if we went -- we are not

         14  doing an investigation on Jose Rivera, we want to

         15  clean up a file to make sure Jose Rivera is a

         16  registered voter, period.

         17                 No one wants to do targets on

         18  anybody, nobody wants to accuse anybody, but when

         19  you have a City like this, all we are asking for is

         20  an investigation unit with two investigators and ten

         21  clerks.

         22                 If I told you give me 12

         23  investigators and two clerks, then you should be

         24  hollering and screaming, because then you are

         25  reversing it to look like a police state and that is
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          2  the one thing we don't want.

          3                 But if I am asking you for two

          4  investigators --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I don't think

          6  we are going to be doing that, but we never know

          7  what the other side might be doing. If they want to

          8  do this, let them give you the money to do it.

          9                 MR. DeFRANCESO: Right.

         10                 Mr. Gentile can answer you further on

         11  your question.

         12                 MR. GENTILE: In my experience and

         13  Danny's which is combined as 56 years, this is the

         14  only new need that was actually designed by the

         15  commissioners themselves. You know that there are

         16  five republican commissioners, you know that there

         17  are five democratic commissioners, there was the

         18  unanimous vote by ten commissioners and the letter

         19  that went down was signed by the president and the

         20  secretary, which means one republican and one

         21  democrat. This was not a staff designed proposal,

         22  this was a commissioner designed proposal. This is a

         23  bipartisan proposal, and without belaboring the

         24  point, it is not a proposal that targets anyone.

         25                 When the Police Commissioner, the
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          2  Mayor, the Immigration and Naturalization Service

          3  said that this is an issue that they won't touch, it

          4  left the board in a default position and with a

          5  staff geared 80 percent clerical and two percent --

          6  in fact it is a little bit more -- geared the way it

          7  is geared, this is not an investigative unit, this

          8  is, as Councilman Perkins said, a clean-up unit, a

          9  clerical unit. One of our Deputy Chief's clerks is

         10  even investigating a computer system using fuzzy

         11  logic which will take names that are almost the

         12  same, dates of birth that are almost the same,

         13  addresses that are almost the same, two people for 3

         14  million voters in investigation capacity is not an

         15  allegation of fraud and doesn't target anyone. This

         16  is a management tool with a small investigative

         17  component.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: It is going to

         19  be interesting, because in my district I have over

         20  1,000 Riveras and there is exactly about, the last

         21  count was 49 Jose Riveras, so I am going to find

         22  that very interesting.

         23                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: You are right, and

         24  you will find it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Every so often

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  BOARD OF ELECTIONS

          2  I set up a Riveras Day, prior t the elections.

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Oh, that's good.

          4  Very good.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          6  Watkins.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

          8                 Danny, Jose had some of what I was

          9  getting to, but I still have questions.

         10                 Part of what was alleged prior to the

         11  election was that there were a lot of people who

         12  were registered illegally, that they should not have

         13  been registered because they are not US citizens.

         14                 My first question has to do with the

         15  current registration form. I made an assumption

         16  which may or may not be correct, that that is being

         17  used statewide.

         18                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: So that

         20  nowhere in the state currently is anyone asked to

         21  show identification or proof of citizenship.

         22                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: That's true.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, based

         24  on that, and the allegations of probable large

         25  numbers of non-citizens being registered and
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          2  therefore voting, how do we or how can we even take

          3  a look at this?

          4                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: You know, it is a

          5  difficult question in one way and then it is really

          6  not, because if an illegal person was registered,

          7  the one thing they wouldn't want to do is to vote.

          8  They don't want -- illegal people do not want to

          9  bring spotlights on themselves, they really don't.

         10                 If you take MVRA, which is currently

         11  called Motor Voter, everybody refers to it as Motor

         12  Voter, this was a bill that was passed by our

         13  Congress and that form affects every Board of

         14  Elections in the state. That question is not asked

         15  on the form, are you an American citizen? Do you

         16  have papers? What court you came through. And it is

         17  done to liberalize, to let people vote.

         18                 I mean, if you really look at this

         19  bill that was passed and you say to yourself, here

         20  is a country that is the richest, most powerful

         21  country in the world and they never had a way of

         22  registering people uniformly in 50 states. There was

         23  no way. They put their minds together and they came

         24  up with a solution. Now you have a way of

         25  registering people in the entire United States. That

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            60

          1  BOARD OF ELECTIONS

          2  is terrific. Are you going to find fraud? Without a

          3  question you are going to find fraud. Are you going

          4  to find a lot of fraud? Absolutely not. Absolutely

          5  not. Is everyone honest? Absolutely not. But the

          6  majority of people are honest. What we are asking

          7  for in this little unit is to correct the little

          8  mistakes.

          9                 I walked into a polling site in

         10  Montgomery Alabama, I didn't get two feet in and a

         11  woman said to me you do not belong here. And I said

         12  that is very true --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Do you think

         14  it was your accent, Danny?

         15                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: What?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Maybe it was

         17  your accent.

         18                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I think so. And I

         19  said I am waiting for the Sheriff, he just dropped

         20  me and is parking the car and the Sheriff came in

         21  and introduced me saying he is a visitor from New

         22  York and he is viewing your election.

         23                 But I wasn't two feet in and the

         24  woman said, no, no, you don't belong here.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: It used to be
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          2  like that here.

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: No, I am just saying

          4  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I don't have

          6  a quarrel with this. You see, I was an inspector way

          7  back when, when it was different, and when you had

          8  to ask for proof.

          9                 I remember when my relatives came

         10  here and had to take naturalization papers in order

         11  to register to vote. My concern is this: That once

         12  you request this unit and we give money to have this

         13  unit established, that along with the establishment

         14  of this unit, the kinds of things that you said here

         15  for the record be publicized, that this is about

         16  going through cleaning up mistakes, finding errors

         17  and getting rid of them, and the reason I am raising

         18  it is because of the amount of agitation that was

         19  caused by people standing up and saying over and

         20  over again that thousands upon thousands of people

         21  who are not US citizens are voting.

         22                 I agree with you, if you have ever

         23  gone door to door, you know of people who may not be

         24  citizens, they don't even want to open the door when

         25  you are taking your petitions.
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          2                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Exactly right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: So, I have no

          4  doubt that they are not flocking to the polls for us

          5  to be able to track them down if they are here past

          6  their time or they are here illegally.

          7                 But the word has been spoken over and

          8  over again, and I think that I certainly support the

          9  efforts that you are making to streamline and clean

         10  up your operations, but I am a reasonable and

         11  sensible person and self reservation is one of the

         12  things I like to do.

         13                 I, like many of my colleagues,

         14  represent districts where there are large immigrant

         15  populations, and I vote for this, I put money back

         16  in. We need to make it very clear what this money is

         17  for, what the purpose is and that it is indeed not a

         18  witch hunt because we do not believe that there are

         19  thousands upon thousands of illegal people

         20  registered and voting.

         21                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, I honestly

         22  believe the commissioners in all --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Excuse me for

         24  interrupting. I don't want to interrupt but we are

         25  running over time and we have others who must be
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          2  heard. I have Council Member Carrion who would like

          3  to ask a question. If you could make your response

          4  brief --

          5                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I will cut it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

          7                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Definitely not a

          8  witch hunt, without a question. I don't think my

          9  commissioners, when they created this idea and put

         10  it on paper to do an integrity unit, never, never

         11  thought it would be a witch hunt. It is really to

         12  correct a lot of mistakes, to make the file as clean

         13  as possible, to make your life easy, my life easy

         14  and the voters easy, that is the bottom line.

         15                 We are here -- we have one business,

         16  our business is to let people vote.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

         20  Carrion.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

         22  Madame Chair.

         23                 Good morning, Mr. DeFrancesco, and

         24  commissioners.

         25                 You are about to administer a school
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          2  board election in May --

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: May 4th. And

          5  there has been a discussion about a more efficient

          6  clear system, and this question may have been

          7  addressed before, but as far as I understand, there

          8  has been an electronic scanning system tested and

          9  implemented in Cambridge Massachusetts, and I am

         10  sure in other cities, and it seems to make sense. I

         11  know there were some court involvement in this

         12  process. Where are we? Why can't we do this? Why

         13  can't we do it this year?

         14                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Well, let me give

         15  this question to Margaret Ognibene, who has been

         16  working on this for awhile.

         17                 MS. OGNIBENE: Hello, Council people.

         18  Regarding the school board elections, we did look

         19  into the Cambridge system and we did invite a vendor

         20  to demonstrate it. I believe the people who did

         21  attend were impressed. However, talking to people

         22  who were well versed in the procedures for procuring

         23  a vendor, there is a bid process and so forth, the

         24  time that is allotted for us to possible procure

         25  such systems is not enough so we cannot go forward
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          2  with that.

          3                 So the way we see it, at this point

          4  in time, because the school board legislation that

          5  had been voted on in Albany and signed by the

          6  Governor was not pre-cleared in three boroughs, it

          7  looks like we are going to be doing a school board

          8  election on paper by hand.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: The old

         10  fashioned way.

         11                 MS. OGNIBENE: The old, old fashioned

         12  way.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Is it fair to

         14  say that we just were not forward looking enough and

         15  we found ourselves once again in this pickle?

         16                 MS. OGNIBENE: No, I don't believe so.

         17  After all, this legislation was passed in June --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Of '98.

         19                 MS. OGNIBENE: June of '98, proposed

         20  prior to that, and we really felt quite confident

         21  that we would be going on machine in all of the

         22  boroughs. It was a voting machine. But of course

         23  there was always the slim chance that it would be

         24  not pre-cleared and as it turned out that is what

         25  did happen.
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          2                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: There was a

          3  commission that was created with the Chancellor, the

          4  Mayor, myself and the Council. For over a year we

          5  did all of this and everyone felt that DOJ was going

          6  to pass voting machines.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: In terms of

          8  looking at the future, you know, it is May 4th and

          9  three years later we are back at it again. Vis-a-vis

         10  the budget, how does this impact the budget as we go

         11  forward?

         12                 MS. OGNIBENE: Oh, you mean regarding

         13  this change from what we thought was going to be

         14  voting machines to paper --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Well, that

         16  and planning for going to the electronic scanning

         17  system.

         18                 MS. OGNIBENE: Well, let's stay with

         19  this year's budget. Regarding the change from

         20  possibly using voting machines to paper ballot, the

         21  monetary amount, you know, cost to this City will be

         22  about the same, because it just changes the funding

         23  from OTPS to PS. So, it is pretty much a wash.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Within our
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          2  various Council districts I think it is a good idea

          3  and possibly if you could include this prior to the

          4  school board election when you would cover some of

          5  these concerns it would be most informative and

          6  greatly appreciated.

          7                 I would think on the matter that we

          8  have been discussing Council Member Watkins'

          9  concerns and our concerns about immigrant

         10  population, I think for the most part most of the

         11  people who are immigrants in our communities are

         12  honest people who would, I agree, not want to, if

         13  they are not citizens, come into contact with

         14  anything that would expose their status, but would

         15  like information because they do have children in

         16  schools that would help them and they wanted much

         17  information as possible.

         18                 If the Board of Elections, and with

         19  such a meeting would put out information, and the

         20  Council members participated in that, because we

         21  deal with our constituents on a local level,

         22  advising them that this is not something that is

         23  punitive, and let's be honest, all people who hear

         24  about these police state situations, are not

         25  minorities, you know, you come from Romania,
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          2  Yugoslavia, Russia --

          3                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Even Italy.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Italy too.

          5                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I know you will find

          6  it hard to believe.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: But the thing

          8  is, all people could use this information, and I

          9  think that you will find that it will be beneficial

         10  if we were involved in those meetings, if we knew -

         11  don't come into my community unless you let me know

         12  because I will then put a hex on you. But the thing

         13  that is important, that we are involved and we get

         14  this information out. And you put it on paper. Even

         15  if they don't read English, their children do and

         16  they can discuss it within their household.

         17                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you so

         19  much for your patience and we appreciate --

         20                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: Councilwoman, just

         21  one thing, let's not lose sight of the 52 jobs.

         22  Don't go looking yet to 12.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I don't believe

         24  you should lose 52, but I also say to you please

         25  don't come to me with a budget that tells me that if
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          2  you lose 20 but you have saved money, that is good

          3  because that is not good either, okay?

          4                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: That is very true.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I don't believe

          6  in losing jobs at the same time we are shipping our

          7  jobs out of the City to other people.

          8                 MR. DeFRANCESCO: I agree with you.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes?

         11                 MS. OGNIBENE: I just want to say

         12  something regarding those technicians.

         13                 I spoke with IES, the company that

         14  provides us with the machines, and they do repair

         15  them and so forth, they said the current machines,

         16  other than the fact that we are running out of line,

         17  could last indefinitely, so long as they are

         18  properly maintained. And maintenance is the key, and

         19  the only way to good maintenance is to keep our

         20  current technicians on staff, on a full-year basis.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: That then means

         22  that you are going to support us and you are going

         23  to reinforce what we say, when we say that you can't

         24  let people go who have skills to maintain those

         25  machines.
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          2                 MS. OGNIBENE: Precisely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And the final

          4  thing would be Council Member -- what's his name --

          5  Eristoff. It is not just that OMB has promised you

          6  the dollars that you have and need, an agency, in my

          7  opinion, also lives because there is continuous

          8  infusion.

          9                 If you only have a certain number of

         10  dollars, and say, oh, yes, they promised you those

         11  dollars, but if you want to buy a new hat and the

         12  dollars are not in the budget, what do you do? Well,

         13  I can't buy a hat, I can't wear that hat. I think an

         14  agency must be able -- for instance, it's not in

         15  your budget, but you have to be able to hire other

         16  people. You have to have the ability to upgrade, to

         17  pay more money in order to maintain the level of

         18  staff performance. You can't always put it in the

         19  budget, but you have got to say we have to pay

         20  people if we want good people.

         21                 You cannot ask people to come to work

         22  for charity. It doesn't work that way.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MS. OGNIBENE: Thank you.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 12:48 p.m.)
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